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I. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Complainants Nautilus Hyosung Inc. (“NHS”) and Nautilus Hyosung America

Inc. (“NHA”) (collectively “Nautilus Hyosung” or “Complainants”) request that the United

States International Trade Commission commence an investigation pursuant to Section 337 of

the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337 (“Section 337”), to remedy the unlawful

importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United States, and/or sale within

the United States after importation by the owner, importer, or consignee (or agents thereof), of

certain automated teller machines (“ATMs”), ATM modules, components thereof, and products

containing the same (collectively referred to as “Accused Products”) that infringe valid and

enforceable United States patents owned by Nautilus Hyosung.

1.2 The proposed respondents are Diebold, Incorporated and Diebold Self-Service

Systems (collectively “Diebold” or “Dicbold Respondents”). Upon information and belief,

Respondents have engaged in unfair acts in violation of Section 337 through and in connection

with the unlicensed importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United

States, and/or sale within the United States after importation of accused products that infringe

one or more claims of United States Patent N0. 7,891,551 (“the ’55l Patent”); one or more

claims of United States Patent No. 7,950,655 (“the ’655 Patent”); one or more claims of United

States Patent No. 8,152,165 (“the ’165 Patent”); and one or more claims of United States Patent

No. 8,523,235 (“the ’235 Patent”). The ’551, ’655, ’165, and ’235 Patents are collectively

referred to herein as “the Asserted Patents.”

1.3 Complainants assert that Respondents directly infringe, contributorily infringe,

and/or induce the infringement of at least claims 1, 2, 3, and 5 of the ’55l Patent; at least claims
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l and 6 of the ’655 Patent; at least claims 1-4, 6, and 7 of the ’l65 Patent; and at least claims 1,

2, 3, 6, 8, and 9 of the ’235 Patent (collectively, “the Asserted Claims”).

1.4 Certified copies of the Asserted Patents accompany this Complaint as Exhibits 1

to 4. Nautilus Hyosung owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in and to these

patents. A certified copy of the recorded assignments accompanies this Complaint as Exhibits 5

to 8.

1.5 As required by Section 337(a)(2) and defined by Section 337(a)(3), an industry in

the United States exists relating to articles covered by the Asserted Patents.

1.6 Complainants seek a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section

337(d), excluding from entry into the United States all of Respondents’ Accused Products that

infringe one or more claims of the Asserted Patents. Complainants also seek permanent cease

and desist orders, pursuant to Section 337(i), directing each Respondent to cease and desist from

activities including, but not limited to, importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating,

warehousing inventory for distribution, offering for sale, selling, distributing, servicing,

repairing, programming, updating, or using such Accused Products in the United States.

II. COMPLAINANTS

2.1 Nautilus Hyosung Inc. (“NHS”) is a corporation organized under the laws of

South Korea, having a principal place of business at 281 Gwangpyeong-ro, Gangnam-Gu, Seoul,

South Korea. NPIS is a global technology company that is a leader in the design, development,

manufacture and support of a wide range of self-service banking solutions including ATMs and

modules thereof.
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2.2 Nautilus Hyosung America Inc. (“NHA”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of

Nautilus Hyosung Inc., existing under the laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place

of business at 6641 Beltline Road, Suite 100, Irving, TX 75063.

2.3 For more than thirty years since its founding in 1979, Nautilus Hyosung has been

known as a total financial solutions provider in the market. In particular, it has designed,

developed, manufactured and supported a wide range of self-service banking solutions, including

automatic teller machines (“ATMs”) and modules and components thereof. Nautilus Hyosung

retains numerous intellectual property rights covering hardware, software, and mechatronics

technologies relating to financial automation solutions.

2.4 Among Nautilus Hyosung’s irmovative ATM technologies are enhanced deposit

automation, efficient cash handling, and simplified paper media transport. Nautilus Hyosung’s

ATM modules that implement its enhanced deposit technology include, but are not limited to, the

Cash and Check in Module (“CCiM”) that is capable of accepting cash and checks in a bundle

together and the Bulk Note Acceptor (“BNA”) that allows for a deposit of bulk notes. Nautilus

I—Iyosimg’sATMs that implement its efficient cash handling technology include, but are not

limited to, the Bill Recycling Machine (“BRl\/I”)that is capable of reusing deposited cash for

dispensing and the Cash Dispenser Unit (“CDM”) that is capable of dispensing cash for use. As

a result of these innovations, Nautilus Hyosung’s ATMs have enjoyed success in the

marketplace.

2.5 Nautilus Hyosung has reached out to the global market, including the U.S.

market, with its imiovative ATM technologies. As detailed, infla, Nautilus Hyosung employs

over 285 employees in the United States, who are dedicated to the manufacturing, programming,
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customization, finishing, service, repair, updating, technical support, and software support of

ATMs and ATM modules for U.S. customers.

III. PROPOSED RESPONDENTS

A. Diebold, Incorporated

3.1 On information and belief, Diebold, Incorporated is an Ohio corporation having a

principal place of business at 5995 Mayfair Road, North Canton, OH 44720. See Exhibit 9.

According to its website (www.diebold.com), Diebold, Incorporated offers a broad range of

ATMs, ATM modules, and components thereof. See Exhibit 10. In particular, Diebold,

Incorporated offers infringing products, including but not limited to the Enhanced Note Acceptor

(“ENA”) module, the ActivMedia module, the ActivRecycle module, the ActivCash module, and

ATMs containing the same. See id.

3.2 On information and belief, Diebold, or others on its behalf, manufactures the

Accused Products in Germany or another foreign country, and then imports them into the United

States, sells them for importation into the United States, sells them after importation into the

United States, and/or engages in repair, service, and support related activities regarding the

Accused Products.

B. Diebold Self-Service Systems

3.3 On information and belief, Diebold Self-Service Systems is aNew York general

partnership having a principal place of business at 5995 Mayfair Road, North Canton, OH.

44720. See Exhibit ll. On information and belief, Diebold Self-Service System is a wholly

owned subsidiary of Diebold, Incorporated. See Exhibits 9 and 11.

3.4 On information and belief, Diebold Self-Service Systems, or others on its behalf,

manufactures the Accused Products in Gennany or another foreign country, and then imports

them into the United States, sells them for importation into the United States, sells them after
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importation into the United States, and/or engages in repair, service, and support related

activities regarding the Accused Products.

IV. THE TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCTS AT ISSUE

4.1 The technologies at issue relate generally to various aspects of an automated teller

machine. As will be described in detail below, the Asserted Patents are directed to features that

improve the capability of detecting abnormal paper media, prevent user injuries while resolving a

paper jam, enhance the deposit automation experience for users and financial institutions, and/or

simplify paper media transport.

4.2 Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 2lO.l2(a)(l2), the Accused Products are Diebold’s or

Wincor’s certain ATMs, ATM modules, components thereof, and products containing the same

that, without permission, implement Nautilus Hyosung’s patented technologies as described and

claimed in the Asserted Patents. Such ATM modules and components thereof include, but are

not limited to, deposit automation modules such as Diebold’s ActivMedia and ENA modules and

Wincor’s CCDM module, cash handling modules such as Diebold’s ActivCash and

ActivRecycle modules, and cassettes therefor.

4.3 Below is a summary table showing which Accused Products infringe which of the

claims of the Asserted Patents (independent claims are in boldface):

‘ U.S. Patent No. Asserted Claims | Accused Products 7 1

including, but not limited to, the following ATMs
with the ENA module:

0 Opteva 720
Q Opteva 740

Opteva 750
Opteva 760

7,891,551 1, 2, 3, and 5 All Diebold ATMs having an user safety device,
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U.S.-Patent N0. Asserted Claims ' . Accused Products

7,950,655 1 and 6 All Diebold ATMs having an abnormal paper
media detection capability, including, but not
limited to, the following ATMs with the
ActivMedia module and/or a cash recycling
module such as the ActivRecycle module:

0 Diebold 3550
0 Diebold 3700

Diebold 7700
Diebold 7750
Diebold 7780
Diebold 7790
Diebold 9900

Opteva 328
Opteva 368
Opteva 378
Opteva 828
Opteva 868

All Diebold ATMs having an abnormal paper
media detection capability, including, but not
limited to, Diebold ATMs with the Wincor
CCDM module

8,152,165 1-4, 6, and 7 All Diebold ATMs having a cash handling
module such as the ActivRecycle and ActivCash
modules, including, but not limited to, the
following ATMs:

0 Diebold 3550
0 Diebold 3700

Diebold 9900

Opteva 328
Opteva 368
Opteva 378
Opteva 828
Opteva 868

8,523,235 1, 2, 3, 6, 8, and 9 All Diebold ATMS having a cash and check
acceptor, including, but not limited to, the
following ATMs with the ActivMedia module:

0 Diebold 7700
0 Diebold 7750
0 Diebold 7780
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I Diebold 7790
0 Diebold 9900

All Diebold ATMs having a cash and check
acceptor, including, but not limited to, Diebold

U.S. Patent No. _ Asserted Claims ,7Accused Products

ATMs with the Wincor CCDM module

V. THE ASSERTED PATENTS

A. The ’551 Patent

1. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by Nautilus Hyosung

5.1 U.S. Patent No. 7,891,551 (“the ’55l Patent”) is entitled “Two-stage Lock

Structure of Automatic Teller Machine” and duly and legally issued on February 22, 2011. The

’55l Patent issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 11/747,522, filed May ll, 2007. The

inventors of the ’551 Patent are Jin Hwan Cha and Sung Chang Hur.

5.2 Nautilus Hyosung is the owner, by valid assignment, of the entire right, title and

interest in and to the ’551 Patent. Prior to issuance, the ’55l inventors assigned all right, title

and interest in U.S. Patent Application Serial No. ll/747,522. This assignment is recorded at the

United States Patent and Trademark Office at Reel/Frame 019290/0588. The ’55l Patent is

valid, enforceable, and is currently in full force and effect.

5.3 Pursuant to Rule 2lO.l2(c) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure,

this Complaint is accompanied by Appendices C and D containing: C) a non-certified copy and

three additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’551 Patent; and D) four copies of each

reference mentioned in that prosecution history.
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2. Non-Technical Description of the Patented Invention

5.4 The ’55l Patent relates to a two-stage lock structure of an automatic teller

machine that can prevent an operator’s hand from being injured due to a heavy unit such as a

temporary stack or an upper frame when it is lifted to remove a paper media causing ajam on a

paper media transfer path. With reference to the exemplary embodiment of Fig. 4 (reproduced

below), the two-stage lock structure is operated by which the operator presses a locking lever

with one hand, and then presses the temporary stack or the upper frame with the other hand to

close the opened temporary storage or upper frame during the removal of the paper media jam.

The two-stage lock stmcture includes a stopper having a first aperture and a second aperture

configured to be formed so that a protruding member is inserted into and caught in the first or

second aperture to hold the temporary stack or the upper frame.
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5.5 The following foreign patent(s) and/or patent application(s) correspond to the

’551 Patent:

l - Patent/Application No. . l l Status l
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Chinese Patent N0. CNl0l07536lB l Issued on May I8, 2011

Chinese Patent Application Publication Published on November 21, 2007
No, CNlOl07536lA

I Korean Patent No. KR72l647Bl Issued on May 23, 2007
No other foreign patents or patent applications corresponding to the ’55l Patent have

been filed, abandoned, withdrawn or rejected.

B. The ’655 Patent

1. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by Nautilus Hyosung

5.6 U.S. Patent No. 7,950,655 (“the ’655 Patent”) is entitled “Apparatus and Method

for Controlling Various Kinds of Paper Media with Skew Sensing” and duly and legally issued

on May 31, 2011. The ’655 Patent issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial No. ll/965,987,

filed December 28, 2007. The inventors of the ’655 Patent are Chang Ho Park and Jin Yong

Hwang.

5.7 Nautilus Hyosung is the owner, by valid assignment, of the entire right, title and

interest in and to the ’655 Patent. Prior to issuance, the ’655 inventors assigned all right, title

and interest in U.S. Patent Application Serial No. ll/965,987. The assignment of the ’655 Patent

to Nautilus Hyosung is recorded at the United States Patent and Trademark Office at Reel/Frame

020316/0299. The ’655 Patent is valid, enforceable, and is currently in full force and effect.

5.8 Pursuant to Rule 2l0.l2(c) of the C0mmission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure,

this Complaint is accompanied by Appendices E and F containing: E) a certified copy and three

additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’655 Patent; and F) four copies of each

reference mentioned in that prosecution history.
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2. Non-Technical Description of the Patented Invention

5.9 The ’655 Patent relates to an apparatus and method for controlling reception and

transaction of various kinds of paper media based on detecting a defect of the paper media. For

example, when a customer inserts various kinds of paper media into a reception unit of the paper

media, the apparatus picks up the received paper media from the reception unit one by one sheet.

With reference to the exemplary embodiment of Fig. 3 (reproduced below), the apparatus then

senses abnormality of the paper media and/or abnormal position of the paper media such as skew

of the paper media, and senses whether the paper media is passing through a predetermined

transport path. In addition, the apparatus controls a transport path of the paper media in which

the abnormal paper media is returned to the customer in case the apparatus senses the

abnormality of the paper media and/or the abnormal position of the paper media such as the skew

of the paper media.
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5.10 The following foreign patent(s) and/or patent app1ication(s) correspond to the

’655 Patent:
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Patent/Application No Status A

Chinese Patent No CNl0l2747l7B Issued on August 17 2011

Chinese Patent Application Publication Published on October 1 2008
N0 CN101274717A

Korean Patent No. KR808835B1 Issued on March 3, 2008

No other foreign patents or patent applications corresponding to the ’655 Patent have

been filed, abandoned, withdrawn or rejected.

C. The ’165 Patent

1. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by Nautilus Hyosung

5.11 U.S. Patent No. 8,152,165 (“the ’165 Patent”) is entitled “Apparatus for

Transferring Paper Media and Automatic Teller Machine Having the Same” and duly and legally

issued on April 10, 2012. The ’l65 Patent issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial No.

12/747,879, filed on December 12, 2008. The inventors of the ’165 Patent are Jin Hwan Cha,

Won Joon Lee, Young Il Choi.

5.12 Nautilus Hyosung is the owner, by valid assignment, of the entire right, title and

interest in and to the ’165 Patent. The assignment of the ’l65 Patent to Nautilus Hyosung is

recorded at the United States Patent and Trademark Office at Reel/Frame 024575/0468. The

’165 Patent is valid, enforceable, and is currently in full force and effect. '

5.13 Pursuant to Rule 2l0.12(c) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure,

this Complaint is accompanied by Appendices G and H containing: G) a certified copy and three

additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’165 Patent; and H) four copies of each

reference mentioned in that prosecution history.
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2. Non-Technical Description of the Patented Invention

5.14 The ’165 Patent relates to a paper media transfer device in use for an automated

teller machine. With reference to the exemplary embodiment of Fig. 1 (reproduced below), the

paper media transfer device includes a medium guide portion and a medium transfer portion, two

of which form a transfer path for paper media together. The medium guide portion has a curved

guide surface with one or more crests and troughs, and the medium transfer portion includes a

belt member and a belt roller. The belt member is curved to match the shape of the guide

surface, and the belt roller drives the belt member, and maintains the curved shape of, or adds a

tension to, the belt member. The medium guide portion further includes a paper media inlet to

receive paper media between the medium guide and transfer portions.
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3. Foreign Counterparts to the ’l65 Patent

5.15 The following foreign patent(s) and/or patent application(s) correspond to the

’l65 Patent:

I I i Patent/Application No. i Status A’
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International PCT Application Publication Published on June 18, 2009
No. WO200907554lA3

European Patent No. EP2227792B1 Issued on July 22, 2015

Chinese Patent No. CNl01933056B _Issued on November 28, 2012

Korean Patent No. KR961575B1 Issued on June 4, 2010

No other foreign patents or patent applications corresponding to the ’165 Patent have

been filed, abandoned, withdrawn or rejected.

D. The ’23SPatent

1. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by Nautilus Hyosung

5.16 U.S. Patent No. 8,523,235 (“the “Z35Patent”) is entitled “Cash and Cheque

Automatic Depositing Apparatus” and duly and legally issued on September 3, 2013. The ’235

Patent issued from U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 11/588,357, filed on October 27, 2006.

The inventors of the ’235 Patent are Jae Hoon Kwak and Woo Ho Lee.

5.17 Nautilus Hyosung is the owner, by valid assignment, of the entire right, title and

interest in and to the ’235 Patent. The assignment of the ’235 Patent to Nautilus Hyosung is

recorded at the United States Patent and Trademark Office at Reel/Frame 018483/0680. The

’235 Patent is valid, enforceable, and is currently in full force and effect.

5.18 Pursuant to Rule 2l0.l2(c) of the C0mmission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure,

this Complaint is accompanied by Appendices I and J containing: I) a certified copy and three

additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’235 Patent; and J) four copies of each

reference mentioned in that prosecution history.
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2. Non-Technical Description of the Patented Invention

5.19 The ’235 Patent relates to a cash and check depositing apparatus that allows a user

to deposit a bundle of cash and checks together. With reference to the exemplary embodiment of

Fig. l (reproduced below), the depositing apparatus includes a bundle insertion unit, a bundle

separator, a main transfer unit, a verifying unit, an abnormal sheet branch transfer unit, a first

gate, an authentic check transfer unit, an authentic cash transfer unit, a second gate, an authentic

check storage cassette, an authentic cash storage cassette, and a check standby unit.

5.20 The following foreign patent(s) and/or patent application(s) correspond to the
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’235 Patent:

Foreign Counterparts to the ’235Patent
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Korean Patent No. KR1059l43B1 Issued on August 25, 2011

Patent/Application _No. ‘ Status 1
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No other foreign patents or patent applications corresponding to the ‘Z35 Patent have

been filed, abandoned, withdrawn or rejected.

VI. UNFAIR ACTS OF PROPOSED RESPONDENTS

6.1 Upon information and belief, Respondents’ Accused Products directly infringe,

contributorily infringe, and/or induce the infringement of at least the Asserted Claims—i.e.,

claims 1, 2, 3, and 5 ofthe ’551 Patent; claims 1 and 6 of the ’655 Patent; claims 1-4, 6, and 7 of

the ’165 Patent; and claims 1, 2, 3, 6, 8, and 9 ofthe ’235 Patent. Discovery may reveal that

Respondents infringe additional claims of the Assetted Patents.

6.2 On information and belief, Respondents manufacture, assemble, package and test,

and/or purchase the Accused Products outside the United States, specifically, at least in

Germany. Respondents then import into the United States, sell for importation, and/or sell

within the United States after importation, the Accused Products.

6.3 On information and belief, and by way of example, the Diebold Respondents

directly infringe, contributorily infringe, and induce infringement of one or more of the Asserted

Claims by selling, selling for importation, and importing ATM modules such as the ActivMedia,

ActivRecycle, and ENA, components thereof, and ATMs containing the same in the United

States. Claim charts demonstrating how these representative Accused Products infringe claims 1

and 5 ofthe ”485 Patent, claim 1 ofthe ’551 Patent, claims 1 and 6 ofthe ’6S5 Patent, claim 1 of

the ’165 Patent, and claim 1 of the ’235 Patent are attached to the Complaint as Exhibits 13 to

16, respectively. Further discovery may reveal additional infringing Diebold ATMs, ATM

modules, components thereof, and products containing the same.

6.4 On information and belief, Diebold ATMs incorporate Wincor OEM CCDM

modules. On information and belief Wincor sells, sells for importation, and imports ATM
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modules such as the CCDM and ATMs containing the same into the United States. See Exhibit

19 to 20. On information and belief, Wincor’s CCDM module shares substantially the same

configuration and components as Diebold’s ActivMedia module, and thus the CCDM infringes

one or more of the Asserted Claims for the same reasons that the ActivMedia does. See Exhibits

l7 to 20. Further discovery may reveal additional infringing Diebold ATMs, ATM modules,

components thereof, and products containing the same or similar infringing Wincor CCDM

modules.

6.5 Respondents also induce, and continue to induce, infringement of the Asserted

Patents with the specific intent that these acts infringe the Asserted Patents. On information and

belief, Respondents actively induce others to infringe certain ofthe Asserted Claims through

their sale of the Accused Products to customers in the United States. Respondents encourage and

facilitate the infringement of the Asserted Patents by offering and distributing directions,

demonstrations, guides, manuals, training for use, and other materials with the Accused Products

that encourage the infringing use of the Accused Products. See Exhibit 10.

6.6 Respondents induced such infringing acts and knew or should have known that

their actions would induce actual infringement of the Asserted Patents. Upon information and

belief, Respondents had actual notice of the Asserted Patents no later than February 9, 2016

when Nautilus Hyosung provided Respondents with copies of the Asserted Patents and provided

claim charts for each of the Asserted Patents explaining how Respondents’ infringed and/or

induced their customers and users to infringe the Asserted Patents. Upon information and belief,

Respondents create and distribute promotional and product literature for the Accused Products

and offer technical support and services for the Accused Products that are designed to instruct,
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encourage, enable, and facilitate the use of the Accused Products in a manner that infringes the

Asserted Patents.

6.7 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, instruct and encourage

users to use the Accused Products in a mamier that infringes the asserted claims of the ’235

Patent. Respondents advertise and distribute manuals and other media that encourage its

customers to purchase the Accused Products and provide detailed instruction on how to install,

support, service, repair, and operate an ATM having a cash and check depositing apparatus for

depositing a bundle of banknotes including at least one check such as the Diebold ActivMedia or

Wincor CCDM module. Respondents further offer repair, support, service, installation, and

troubleshooting services that encourage and facilitate the use of the Accused Products in an

infringing manner.

6.8 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, instruct and encourage

users to use the Accused Products in a manner that infringes the asserted claims of the ’S51

Patent. Respondents advertise and distribute manuals and other media that encourage its

customers to purchase the Accused Products and provide detailed instruction on how to install,

support, service, repair, and operate an ATM having a two-stage locking structure. Respondents

further offer repair, support, service, installation, and troubleshooting services that encourage

and facilitate the use of the Accused Products in an infringing manner.

6.9 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, instruct and encourage

users to use the Accused Products in a manner that infringes the asserted claims of the "655

Patent. Respondents advertise and distribute manuals and other media that encourage its

customers to purchase the Accused Products and provide detailed instruction on how to install,

support, service, repair, and operate an ATM having an apparatus for controlling reception of
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various kinds of paper media, such as the Diebold ActivMedia or Wincor CCDM module.

Respondents further offer repair, support, installation, and troubleshooting services that

encourage and facilitate the use of the Accused Products in an infringing manner.

6.10 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, instruct and encourage

users to use the Accused Products in a manner that infringes the asserted claims of the ’l65

Patent. Respondents advertise and distribute manuals and other media that encourage its

customers to purchase the Accused Products and provide detailed instruction on how to install,

support, service, repair, and operate an ATM having a paper media transfer unit. Respondents

further offer repair, support, service, installation, and troubleshooting services that encourage

and facilitate the use of the Accused Products in an infringing manner.

6.11 Respondents also contributorily infringe certain Asserted Claims through their

sale and offers to sell within the United States and/or import into the United States components

of the Accused Products, constituting a material part of the Asserted Claims, knowing the same

to be especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of the Asserted Patent, and

not a staple article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use. For

example, on information and belief, the Accused Products and/or components thereof are

specifically designed for automated banking transactions such as a deposit or withdrawal of

paper money. Due to their specific designs, the Accused Products and/or components thereof do

not have any substantial non-infringing uses,

6.12 Respondents sell the Accused Products with the knowledge that the devices

infringe. Upon information and belief, Respondents had actual notice of the Asserted Patents no

later than February 8, 2016 when Nautilus Hyosung provided Respondents with copies of the

Asserted Patents and provided claim charts for each of the Asserted Patents explaining how
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Respondents’ infringed and/or induced their customers and users to infringe the Asserted

Patents.

6.13 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, sell for importation into

the United States, import into the United States, sell within the United States after importation,

and/or repair, service, or support Accused Products having a cash and check automatic

depositing apparatus for depositing a bundle of bank notes including at least one check for which

there is no suitable or substantial noninfringing use and which embody a material part of the

inventions described in the ’235 patent. In addition, upon information and belief, Accused

Products having a cash and check automatic depositing apparatus for depositing a bundle of bank

notes including at least one check are known by Respondent to be made or especially adapted for

use in the infringement of the Asserted Patents.

6.14 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, sell for importation into

the United States, import into the United States, sell within the United States after importation,

and/or repair, service, or support Accused Products having a two-stage lock structure for which

there is no suitable or substantial noninfringing use and which embody a material part of the

inventions described in the ’55l patent. In addition, upon information and belief, Accused

Products having a two-stage lock structure are known by Respondent to be made or especially

adapted for use in the infringement of the Asserted Patents.

6.15 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, sell for importation into

the United States, import into the United States, sell within the United States after importation,

and/or repair, service, or support Accused Products having an apparatus for controlling reception

of various kinds of paper media for which there is no suitable or substantial noninfringing use

and which embody a material part of the inventions described in the ’655 patent. In addition,

l9



upon information and belief, Accused Products having an apparatus for controlling reception of

various kinds of paper media are known by Respondent to be made or especially adapted for use

in the infringement of the Asserted Patents.

6.16 For example, Respondents, upon information and belief, sell for importation into

the United States, import into the United States, sell within the United States after importation,

and/or repair, service, or support Accused Products having a paper media transfer device for

which there is no suitable or substantial noninfringing use and which embody a material part of

the inventions described in the ’l65 patent. In addition, upon information and belief, Accused

Products having a paper media transfer device are known by Respondent to be made or

especially adapted for use in the infringement of the Asserted Patents.

VII. SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF UNFAIR IMPORTATION AND SALE

7.1 On information and belief, Respondents, or others on their behalf, manufacture

the Accused Products in Germany or another foreign country and then import them into the

United States, sell them for importation into the United States and/or sell them after importation

into the United States. See Exhibits 17 to 20.

7.2 Upon infonnation and belief, the Diebold Respondents import and distribute

ATMs and ATM modules to customers in the United States. For example, an ActivMedia

module recently purchased in the United States includes labels indicating that the ActivMedia

module was manufactured in Germany. See Exhibit 17. In addition, importation records

obtained from panjiva.com indicate that the‘Diebold Respondents import ATMs and ATM

modules shipped from abroad. See Exhibit 18.

7.3 Upon infonnation and belief, Wincor imports and distributes ATMs and ATM

modules to customers in the United States. Importation records obtained from panjivacom
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indicate that Wincor imports ATMs and ATM modules shipped from Germany. See Exhibit 19.

In particular, Wincor CCDM modules, which are manufactured by Wincor Nixdorf AG in

Germany, are available for sale in the United States. See Exhibit 20. On information and belief,

Diebold ATMs incorporate Wincor OEM CCDM modules.

7.4 Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of Respondents’

importation, sale for importation, and/or sale after importation of the Accused Products.

VIII. CLASSIFICATION UNDER THE HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE

8.1 The Accused Products are believed to fall within at least the following

classifications of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States: 8472.90.10 and

8473.40.85. These classifications are intended for illustration only and are not intended to be

restrictive of the Accused Products.

IX. LICENSEES

9.1 To date, Nautilus Hyosung has licensed none of the Asserted Patents.

X. l DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

10.1 As required by Section 337(a)(2) and defined by Section 337(a)(3), a domestic

industry exists in the United States in connection with articles protected by the ’551, ’655, ’l65,

and ’235 Patents.

A. Technical Prong

10.2 Claim charts demonstrating how Nautilus Hyosung’s ATMs and/or ATM

modules are covered by an exemplary claim of each of the Asserted Patents are attached as

Confidential Exhibits 22 to 25. Therefore, these ATMs and/or ATM modules are protected by

the ’551, ’655, ’165, and ’235 Patents, and a domestic industry for those articles exists.
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B. Economic Prong

10.3 A domestic industry, under subparts (A), (B), and/or (C) of Section 337(a)(3),

exists by virtue of Nautilus Hyosung’s significant U.S. investment in plant and equipment,

significant employment of U.S. labor and capital, and substantial investment in U.S. exploitation

of the Asserted Patents, including through engineering and research and development. Nautilus

Hyosung automated teller machines (“ATMs”) are protected by at least the ’551, ’655, ’165, and

’235 Patents. Nautilus Hyosung’s U.S. investments related to the articles protected by the

Asserted Patents are discussed in more detail in the Confidential Declaration of Nancy Daniels,

including financials showing the magnitude of Nautilus Hyosung’s investments. See generally

Confidential Exhibit 21.

10.4 Nautilus Hyosung has made and continues to make significant investment in plant

and equipment in the United States with respect to articles protected by the Asserted Patents.

Nautilus Hyosung has made and continues to make substantial investment in facilities in Irving,

Texas, Brea, California, and Miamisburg, Ohio. ATMs are physically large items, and the

facilities Nautilus Hyosung America uses for its finishing, sen/ice, and repair activities are larger

than what might be needed to finish and/or service the same number of cell phones, laptops, or

similar items. Nautilus Hyosung America devotes substantial space in its facilities to

customizing, servicing, and supporting articles protected by the Asserted Patents. Nautilus

Hyosung’s investment in plant and equipment is further set forth in Confidential Exhibit 21 W

18-20.

10.5 Nautilus Hyosung has made and continues to make significant investments in

labor and capital with respect to articles protected by the Asserted Patents. Nautilus Hyosung

America employs a significant number of employees in its Texas, California, and Ohio facilities

and elsewhere who devote substantial man-hours toward the customization, sen/ice, and support
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of articles protected by the Asserted Patents. Specifically, Nautilus Hyosung America is

engaged in the final assembly, customization, servicing, repair and software support of

automated teller machines (“ATMs”) at its facilities in Irving, Texas; Brea, California; and

Miamisburg, Ohio, as well as in the 26 states in which its repair personnel operate. Confidential

Exhibit 21 at 1]2. Nautilus Hyosung America devotes substantial portions of its employees’ time

and effort to customizing, finishing, servicing, repairing, and offering technical and software

support to articles covered by the Asserted Patents. Further details of Nautilus Hyosung

America’s employment of labor or capital are provided in Confidential Exhibit 21 at W 6~17.

10.6 Nautilus Hyosung has made and continues to make substantial investment in the

exploitation of its rights in the Asserted Patents. Nautilus Hyosung has invested and continues to

invest in the customization, service, and support of articles covered by the Asserted Patents.

Nautilus Hyosung America offers service and repair across twenty-six states including its

facilities in Texas, California, and Ohio. Nautilus Hyosung has invested in infrastructure,

employees, and business relationships to enhance the value added to its products by a

comprehensive service, repair, and support offering. Nautilus Hyosung continues to invest in its

domestic infrastructure. Confidential Exhibit 21 sets forth a portion of Nautilus Hyosung’s

significant investment associated with the exploitation of Nautilus Hyosung’s rights in the

Asserted Patents.

XI. RELATED LITIGATION

I 1.1 On February 9, 2016, Nautilus Hyosung filed a complaint against Respondents in

the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas, alleging infringement of one.or more

claims of the Asserted Patents. Per I9 CFR 2lO.l2(a)(5), Complainants certify that the Asserted
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Patents, or the subject matter thereof, have not been the subject of any previous court or agency

litigation.

XII. REQUESTED RELIEF

12.1 WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Complainants request that the United

States International Trade Commission:

(a) Institute an immediate investigation, pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of

1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, with respect to violations of Section 337 based on

Respondents’ unlawful importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United

States, and/or sale within the United States after importation of certain ATMs, ATM modules,

components thereof, and products containing the same, that infringe one or more claims of

United States Patent Nos. 7,891,551, 7,950,655, 8,152,165, and 8,523,235;

(b) Schedule and conduct a hearing on the unlawful acts and, following the hearing,

determine that there has been a violation of Section 337;

(c) Issue a permanent exclusion order, pursuant to Section 337(d) of the Tariff Act of

1930, as amended, excluding from entry into the United States all of Respondents’ ATMs, ATM

modules, components thereof, and products containing the same, that infringe one or more

claims ofUnited States Patent Nos. 7,891,551, 7,950,655, 8,152,165, and 8,523,235;

(d) Issue permanent cease and desist orders, pursuant to Section 337(f) of the Tariff

Act of 1930, as amended, directing each Respondent to cease and desist from the importation,

marketing, advertising, demonstrating, warehousing inventory for distribution, servicing,

repairing, programming, updating, sale and use of ATMs, ATM modules, components thereof,

and products containing the same, that infringe one or more claims of United States Patent Nos.

7,891,551, 7,950,655, 8,152,165, and 8,523,235; and
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(e) Grant such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and proper

based on the facts determined by the investigation and the authority of the Commission.

Respectfully submitted,

FISH & RICHARDSON P.C.

D d:Fbr 9.2016 (aate e uary l _/ i
Michael J. Mc on * ‘
Timothy W. iffe
Kevin C. eeler
Joseph V. Colaianni
Michael C. Tyler
T. Monty Fusco
1425 K Street NW, 11th Floor
Washington, DC 20005
Tel: (202)783-5070
Facsimile: (202) 783-2331

Counselfor Complainants
Nautilus Hyosung Inc. and Nautilus Hyosung
America Inc.
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